Supreme Court, U.S. FILED

No. 02-280

**SEP 18** 2002

In The

CLERK

## Supreme Court of the United States

WALTER ROSALES; MARIE TOGGERY; KAREN TOGGERY,

Petitioners,

V

KEAN ARGOVITZ RESORTS, INC., a limited liability company; LAKES GAMING, INC., a publicly traded company; KEAN-ARGOVITZ RESORT-JAMUL, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; LAKES KEAN-ARGOVITZ RESORTS-CALIFORNIA, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,

Respondents.

On Petition For Writ Of Certiorari To The United States Court Of Appeals For The Ninth Circuit

# BRIEF IN OPPOSITION AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

ERNEST SLOME
JEFFRY A. MILLER
LEWIS, D'AMATO, BRISBOIS
& BISGARRD, LLP
550 West "C" Street,
Suite 800
San Diego, CA 92101
(619) 233-1006

DAVID F. HERR
Counsel of Record
JUSTIN H. PERL
MICHAEL C. MCCARTHY
KAI H. RICHTER
MASLON EDELMAN BORMAN
& BRAND, LLP
3300 Wells Fargo Center
90 South Seventh Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402-4140
(612) 672-8200

### QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- 1. Where a district court dismisses a second complaint on two alternative grounds: failure to plead a civil rights claim as required by the federal rules of civil procedure and, independently, failure to plead a claim as required by the court's earlier order, and the court of appeals affirms, is any civil rights issue properly before this Court?
- 2. Where a request to amend pleadings is not made by motion in the district court and is not raised as an issue in the Petitioners' opening brief in the court of appeals, does the issue survive to permit this Court to review it by certiorari?

### CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

- 1. Lakes Gaming, Inc., is a publicly-traded company. No publicly-held companies own ten percent or more of its stock.
- 2. Kean Argovitz Resorts, Inc., has no parent corporations and no publicly-held companies own ten percent or more of its stock.
- 3. Kean Argovitz Resorts—Jamul, LLC, has no parent corporations and no publicly-held companies own ten percent or more of its stock.
- 4. Lakes Kean Argovitz Resorts-California, L.L.C., is owned by two parent corporations: Lakes Jamul, Inc., and Kean Argovitz Resorts-Jamul, L.L.C.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
QUESTIONS PRESENTED	i
CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT	ii
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES	v
BRIEF FOR THE RESPONDENTS IN OPPOSI-	_
TION	
OPINIONS BELOW	1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE	1
The Parties	2
The Claims	3
The Jamul Contract	. 3
The First Two Complaints and Their Dismissal	. 4
The Second Amended Complaint and Its	
Dismissal	. 6
The Fate of the State Law Tort Claims	. 8
Dismissal of the Federal Civil Rights Claims	. 9
The Ninth Circuit Appeal	. 10
REASONS THE WRIT SHOULD NOT BE	
GRANTED	. 11
I. THIS CASE DOES NOT PROVIDE A VEHI	
CLE TO EXAMINE THE ISSUE PETI	
A. The Trial Court Decided the Case on Al ternative Grounds	
B. The Decision Does Not Decide the Issue Stated in the Petition for Certiorari	

### TABLE OF CONTENTS - Continued

	Page
C. The Unpublished Opinion of the Lower Courts Does Not Contribute to Any Split in the Circuits	5
II. THE ISSUES RELATING TO AMENDMENT OF PLEADINGS HAVE BEEN WAIVED	
CONCLUSION	15
SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX	
Contents of Supplemental Appendix	isa
Appendix A (Memorandum Opinion and Order Regarding First Amended Complaint dated February 1 2001)	,

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page	
	Federal Cases
12	Addisu v. Fred Meyer, Inc., 198 F.3d 1130 (9th Cir. 2000)
14	DDI Seamless Cylinder International, Inc. v. General Fire Extinguisher Corp., 14 F.3d 1163 (7th Cir. 1994)
.12, 13	Griffin v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88 (1971)
15	Montana Pole & Treating Plant v. I.F. Laucks & Co., 993 F.2d 676 (9th Cir. 1993)
15	Welsh v. Derwinski, 14 F.3d 85 (1st Cir. 1994)
2	DOCKETED CASES  Jamul Indian Village v. Hunter, Case No. 95 CV 0131R (S.D. Cal.)  Rosales v. Townsend, Case No. 97-CV-0769 (S.D. Cal.)  Rosales v. United States, Case No. 98-860-L (S.D.
2	Cal.) Federal Statutes and Regulations
12	25 U.S.C. §§ 1981, 1982, and 1985(3)
	42 U.S.C. § 1981
	42 U.S.C. § 1982
2, 7, 12	42 U.S.C. § 1985(3)
4	Compact in May 2000. <i>Notice</i> , 65 Fed. Reg. 31,189 (May 16, 2000)

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES - Continued

	Page
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)	11
Indian Gaming Regulatory Act ("IGRA"), 25 U.S.C.	
§§ 2701-2721 (1994 & Supp. 1999)	5

### BRIEF FOR THE RESPONDENTS IN OPPOSITION

### OPINIONS BELOW

The opinion of the United States Court of Appeals Ninth Circuit is not reported and is designated as not for publication. The opinion of the United States District Court for the Southern District of California dated April 18, 2001, is also not reported. It is included in the Appendix at 3a. An earlier decision of the trial court dismissing the Petitioners' First Amended Complaint, dated February 1, 2001, is not reported and is included in the Supplemental Appendix at 1sa.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from contract negotiations between a gaming management contractor and a federally-recognized American Indian tribe. The tribe wishes to develop and operate a casino on tribal lands, and entered an agreement with the contractor to develop and manage the planned facility. The negotiations and resulting contract are subject to close regulation by the federal government. In fact, the contract is currently being reviewed by a federal agency, pursuant to congressionally-mandated regulations specifically intended to protect tribes. It will not take effect if the agency finds that the contractor acted improperly.

This case does not present the issue which Petitioners would have the Court reach. The district court dismissed Petitioners' Second Amended Complaint on two alternative grounds, only one of which presents Petitioners' issue concerning "conspiracy," and the Ninth Circuit affirmed

the dismissal on both bases. Neither court held that a private conspiracy is not an actionable claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3); they simply held that the Petitioners had not stated such a claim.

### The Parties

Petitioners are three tribe members who oppose gaming development. They attempted to assert civil rights claims against the Respondents, who contracted with the tribe to provide gaming management services. Petitioners cast this commercial dispute as civil rights claims, although they essentially allege only that the contractor acted improperly while negotiating the contract.

Petitioners live in or near the Jamul Indian Village and purport to be enrolled tribe members. ER at 75, ¶ 1.¹ They have been involved in a number of proceedings involving Jamul, having found themselves on the losing side of a number of intra-tribal disputes.² For instance, the Petitioners dispute the legitimacy of the current tribal leadership, asserting that Petitioner Rosales was elected Tribal Chairman in 1995, 1997, and 1999. There are currently proceedings pending before the Board of Indian

Tribal Appeals that are expected to resolve this issue. Petitioners also disagree with Jamul's decision to develop a casino. They disapprove of gambling, considering it "a greed driven, predatory vice," and believe that the planned development will disrupt their homes. *Id.* at 5.

Respondents are related entities fairly described as "engaging in casino management," in the words of the trial court. App. at 14a, n.2. Respondent Lakes Kean Argovitz Resorts—California, L.L.C. ("Lakes KAR") contracted with Jamul Indian Village ("Jamul") to develop and manage a casino gambling facility on tribal land (the "Jamul Contract"). See SER at 59-107. The signatories on behalf of Jamul were the tribal Chairman, a Vice-Chairman, three members of the Executive Council, and the Secretary/Treasurer. SER at 105.

### The Claims

Petitioners asserted novel claims in an attempt to involve the federal courts in an internal tribal dispute that does not implicate civil rights law, and that is currently being resolved in other forums, consistent with Congressional intent. Petitioners had three chances to serve and file a complaint that stated a civil rights claim, but they never did. They appealed the district court's dismissal of their third, insufficient effort.

### The Jamul Contract

Intending to become involved in gaming to generate revenue for the tribe, the Jamul Indian Village ("Jamul")

¹ For convenience, citations to the Excerpt of Record filed in the Ninth Circuit are included as "ER at \_\_" and to the Supplemental Excerpt of Record as "SER at \_\_."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At least two of the Rosales Claimants, represented by the same counsel, have filed the following federal cases involving Jamul's internal politics: *Jamul Indian Village v. Hunter*, Case No. 95 CV 0131R (S.D. Cal.); *Rosales v. Townsend*, Case No. 97-CV-0769 (S.D. Cal.); and *Rosales v. United States*, Case No. 98-860-L (S.D. Cal.). ER at 154.

entered into a Compact with the State of California in October 1999 (the "Compact"). SER at 108-68.<sup>3</sup> The Secretary of the Interior approved the Compact in May 2000. *Notice*, 65 Fed. Reg. 31,189 (May 16, 2000).

The core terms of the Jamul Contract are divided into "Development Provisions" and "Management Provisions," which involve, respectively, the development of a gaming facility and its subsequent operation. The Management Provisions will not take effect until approved by the National Indian Gaming Commission ("NIGC") Chairman. SER at 85. The Development Provisions allow Jamul to begin preparing for the development, while recognizing that the NIGC may not approve the Management Provisions. For example, pursuant to the Development Provisions, Lakes KAR is paying Jamul pre-construction advances of \$40,000 per month pending approval. SER at 71. These advances are to be repaid pursuant to a Promissory Note agreed to by the parties. *Id*.

### The First Two Complaints and Their Dismissal

In an attempt to stop gaming development, Petitioners filed this action against each of the Respondents, although only one of these entities, Lakes KAR, is a party to the Jamul Contract.

The underlying appeal challenged the dismissal of the Second Amended Complaint, which was filed in February 2001. That complaint represented Petitioners' third unsuccessful attempt to state a claim sufficient to survive a dismissal motion. The first Complaint was filed in September 2000. It named two corporate defendants (Respondents Kean Argovitz Resorts, Inc. and Lakes Gaming, Inc.), and two individual defendants. It asserted three state law tort claims and violations of three federal civil rights statutes, based on allegations that the defendants had purportedly violated the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act ("IGRA"), 25 U.S.C. §§ 2701-2721 (1994 & Supp. 1999) and the Compact during the Jamul Contract negotiations. SER at 5-16. It also sought declaratory and injunctive relief. *Id.* at 16-18.

The individual defendants sought dismissal on personal jurisdiction grounds, and the corporate defendants, joined by the individuals, filed a motion arguing that the action was preempted by IGRA, that Jamul was an indispensable party, and that the Complaint failed to assert facts sufficient to support the asserted civil rights claims. ER at 4. Before the district court could consider the dismissal motions, Petitioners rendered them moot by filing a First Amended Complaint. ER at 35-62. The First Amended Complaint dropped the two individual defendants and added two corporate defendants, resulting in the composition of parties involved in this appeal; it did not change the legal claims asserted in the First Amended Complaint.

Respondents moved to dismiss the First Amended Complaint on essentially the same grounds asserted against the initial Complaint, *i.e.*, that the action was preempted by IGRA, that the factual allegations did not support the alleged federal civil rights violations, and that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Compact was filed below as Exhibit A to the Notice of Lodgement and Request for Judicial Notice in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss the First Amended Complaint. See ER at 7.

the entire action should be dismissed because Jamul was an indispensable party.

While electing not to dismiss the case on indispensable party grounds, the district court dismissed the state law tort claims as a matter of law, because they were based on alleged violations of IGRA and the Compact, neither of which afforded Petitioners a private right of action. Supp. App. at 4sa-8sa. The court also found that the state law tort claims were preempted by IGRA, because that statute vested authority in the NIGC – not in Petitioners – to oversee Indian gaming. *Id.* For these reasons, the court dismissed the state law tort claims with prejudice and without leave to amend. *Id.* at 14sa.

Having dismissed the state law tort claims, the district court concluded that it was "ill-equipped to properly examine" the federal civil rights claims, because they were based on factual allegations that supported the claims that had been dismissed. Id. The court therefore dismissed the federal civil rights claims without prejudice and with leave to amend. Id. Consistent with federal law, the court instructed the Petitioners that if they chose to assert federal civil rights claims in the future they "must plead specific facts regarding each Defendants' discriminatory conduct as to each individual Plaintiff." Id. at 13sa. (emphasis in original).

### The Second Amended Complaint and Its Dismissal

Petitioners filed their Second Amended Complaint on February 28, 2001. Surprisingly, Petitioners included not only the federal civil rights claims the court had invited them to amend, but also the very same state law tort and without leave to amend. Id. The factual allegations are substantially the same, except that almost every express reference to IGRA and the Compact was deleted, presumably to avoid the pitfalls of preemption that had defeated the claims in the First Amended Complaint.

The federal civil rights claims, which were the subject of the appeal to the Ninth Circuit were: an equal protection claim asserted under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, a property rights claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1982, and a claim of conspiracy to violate civil rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3). The dismissal of the first two claims is not raised in the Petition for Certiorari.

In general, the Petitioners rested on broad, conclusory allegations. ¶¶ 22 & 34, App. at 28a, 34a. The Second Amended Complaint asserts that the conduct alleged in these paragraphs violates 25 U.S.C. §§ 1981, 1982, and 1985(3). See ¶¶ 60, 68 & 74, App. at 40a, 42a & 44a. Only the claim under section 1985(3) remains.

In addition, the twice-amended pleading asserts that "overt acts" in violation of these statutes "have been coupled with disparaging racial remarks concerning the Plaintiffs' respective degrees of Indian blood, including but not limited to referring to them as 'half blood Indians,' 'a half blood community,' and seeking to have them wrongfully evicted from their homes, and denied their possessory rights to their federal benefits." *Id.* The pleading does not allege, however, that any of the Respondents ever made any of the purportedly disparaging racial remarks. ¶¶ 20 & 33, *Id.* at 27-28a & 33-34a.

In addition, although the claim had been made earlier, the Second Amended Complaint does not contain allegations that the Respondents violated either IGRA or the Compact. In fact, to avoid the district court's earlier conclusion that they can bring no private cause of action under IGRA or the Compact, the Petitioners simply deleted almost all such references from the Second Amended Complaint. They attempted to distance their case from Indian gaming, stating, "At its 'core' the Second Amended Complaint pleads seven causes of action that have nothing to do with the Defendants' attempts to build a casino in Jamul." ER at 155; see generally id. at 145-69.

### The Fate of the State Law Tort Claims

Respondents moved to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint in its entirety. They argued, that the state law tort claims had already been dismissed with prejudice and without leave to amend. After receiving the motion and before the court could consider it, Petitioners withdrew the state law tort claims. App. at 11a. They then requested in their opposition papers, but never filed a motion for, leave to amend to re-assert the claims. Id. Petitioners appear to ask this Court to review the amendment issue, although it was not properly raised in the district court nor preserved in the court of appeals. Pet. for Certiorari at 21 & n.9.

In response, the district court noted that Petitioners' attempt to recast their case as one that was not integrally connected to Indian gaming was "not well taken." ER at 202. The court remarked that the deletion of references to IGRA and the Compact was "particularly surprising," since such violations had been alleged in both of their earlier complaints. Id. at 203. Recognizing that the state law tort claims were the same as those that had already been dismissed with prejudice and without leave to amend, and noting that Petitioners had already amended their complaint twice, the district court denied the motion to amend. Id. at 13a.

### Dismissal of the Federal Civil Rights Claims

The motion to dismiss the federal civil rights claims was based primarily on two arguments, the second of which itself comprised two arguments: First, that the claims failed because they were preempted by IGRA, despite the deletion of almost all references to the statute; and, second, that the allegations did not meet the standard of specificity required by federal civil rights law or, alternatively, that the allegations did not comply with the district court's prior order. ER at 113. The district court agreed in all respects. App. at 13a.

In its memorandum, the district court reviewed the elements of each civil rights claim, as well as the pleading requirements, and concluded that to avoid dismissal Petitioners had to allege facts sufficient to support a "plausible inference of racially discriminatory intent." App. at 7a. The court concluded that Petitioners had not satisfied this standard because their allegations did "not support an inference of intentional racial discrimination,"

<sup>&#</sup>x27;In the Rosales Claimants' other litigation involving Jamul, similar tactics caused the district court to issue an order to show cause why sanctions should not be imposed. ER at 134-36. After filing one action in the Southern District of California and facing a motion to dismiss, they voluntarily withdrew the case and filed an identical action in the Central District. *Id*. After the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the later-filed action, they again voluntarily dismissed the case. *Id*. The court ultimately declined to order sanctions, but issued a stern warning against such "procedural tactics and maneuvering." ER at 142.

id. at 7a, and did not provide a causal link between Respondents' alleged acts and any intentional discrimination. Id. at 9a. As independent grounds for dismissal, the court found that Petitioners had failed to comply with the February 2001 Order that explicitly required them to "plead specific facts" if they sought to reassert their civil rights claims. App. at 10a-11a, quoting prior order, Supp. App. at 13sa. The court described the allegations as "at most, vague and ambiguous," and noted that they did not attribute racist remarks to any of the Respondents. App. at 10a.

### The Ninth Circuit Appeal

On appeal to the Ninth Circuit, Petitioners challenged only the dismissal of the federal civil rights claims. By decision dated May 21, 2002, the court entered a unanimous Memorandum Decision. App. at 1a. The court designated its opinion as "not appropriate for publication" and held that it may not be cited as authority.

### REASONS THE WRIT SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED

- I. THIS CASE DOES NOT PROVIDE A VEHICLE TO EXAMINE THE ISSUE PETITIONERS SEEK TO ARGUE.
  - A. The Trial Court Decided the Case on Alternative Grounds.

The trial court dismissed the second amended complaint for two – or really, three<sup>5</sup> – separate reasons, only one of which would arguably relate to the issue Petitioners would have this Court reach.

First, the alternative bases for dismissal of the federal claims relate to how Petitioners pleaded, or failed to plead, their claims. The federal constitutional claims were dismissed for two interrelated reasons: They failed to state a claim and were dismissed under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) and they failed to state a claim under the requirements imposed by the trial court's earlier order.

When the district court dismissed the First Amended Complaint, it expressly allowed Petitioners to try yet again to state a claim. It dismissed the federal claims "without prejudice and with leave to amend." Supp. App. at 14sa. The court provided express guidance on what was necessary for any amended complaint:

If Plaintiffs elect to file a Second Amended Complaint alleging civil rights violations under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The state-law claims were dismissed on the grounds they are preempted by federal law. Supp. App. at 9sa-12sa. This issue was not apparently raised in the Petition, although in the conclusion Petitioners appear to seek to have them reinstated. Pet. at 21 & n.9.

§§ 1981, 1982 and 1985, Plaintiffs must plead specific facts regarding each Defendants' discriminatory conduct as to each individual Plaintiff. Because Plaintiffs' proposed civil rights claims all independently arise from rights secured by the Constitution, Plaintiffs may not rely on or otherwise refer to IGRA or the Tribal-State Compact to establish the prima facie elements of their proposed civil rights claims.

Id. at 14sa (emphasis in original). The Second Amended Complaint was dismissed for its failure to state a claim under this requirement.

# B. The Decision Does Not Decide the Issue Stated in the Petition for Certiorari.

Even if the district and circuit courts had decided this case solely on the basis of the third issue in I.A, there would still be no basis for this Court to reach the issue raised by Petitioner. The "conflict in the circuits" urged by Petitioners relates to whether a cause of action exists for conspiracy to deprive a citizen of the right to vote. Pet. for Certiorari at 9.

This Court has decided the only legal issue raised by the stated issue. In *Griffin v. Breckenridge*, 403 U.S. 88 (1971), the Court articulated what is required to state a claim against a private conspiracy under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3). The trial court here applied a standard consistent with that articulated in *Griffin*, citing the applicable Ninth Circuit precedent, App. at 7a, Addisu v. Fred Meyer, Inc., 198 F.3d 1130 (9th Cir. 2000) (Aldisert, J.), which in turn cites and affirms the district court's application of *Griffin*.

The only thing actually decided here was that, despite being allowed repeated tries to plead a claim that complied with the requirements of Griffin, Petitioners never did so. As dictated by the facts - facts which the district court judge had repeated opportunity to come to know - the gravamen of Petitioners' complaints have always been a disagreement with casino gambling at the Jamul Indian Village. This economic dispute simply doesn't become an actionable civil rights complaint merely by adding talismanic conclusory language. Allegations that "statements were made," without alleging that it was the Respondents who made them, are similarly insufficient as a matter of fact. Although only notice of the claim is required under the rules, the trial court correctly determined that the complaint here did not state any basis to infer that any actions of anyone, let alone the Respondents, were motivated by any animus based on race or other class-status. App. at 7a.

Grounded only in the facts as pleaded by Petitioners in this case, and not the lofty legal issue Petitioners would have this Court address, the decisions here simply do not present any substantive issue, let alone one this Court needs to visit again, on the question stated in the Petition.

### C. The Unpublished Opinion of the Lower Courts Does Not Contribute to Any Split in the Circuits.

Both the district court decision and the Ninth Circuit Memorandum affirming it are unpublished opinions, and the Ninth Circuit opinion is, by its terms and rule of court, not appropriate for citation to that court or any other courts. If any one-paragraph decision can contribute to a conflict in the circuits justifying the rare action of certiorari review by

Supreme Court, U.S.

No. 02-280

SEP 18 2002

of Other

CLBAX

# Supreme Court of the United States

WALTER ROSALES; MARIE TOGGERY; KAREN TOGGERY,

Petitioners,

۲.

KEAN ARGOVITZ RESORTS, INC., a limited liability company; LAKES GAMING, INC., a publicly traded company; KEAN-ARGOVITZ RESORT-JAMUL, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; LAKES KEAN-ARGOVITZ RESORTS-CALIFORNIA, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,

Respondents.

On Petition For Writ Of Certiorari
To The United States Court Of Appeals
For The Ninth Circuit

# BRIEF IN OPPOSITION AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

ERNEST SLOME
JEFFRY A. MILLER
LEWIS, D'AMATO, BRISBOIS
& BISGARRD, LLP
550 West "C" Street,
Suite 800
San Diego, CA 92101
(619) 233-1006

DAVID F. HERR

Counsel of Record

JUSTIN H. PERL

MICHAEL C. MCCARTHY

KAI H. RICHTER

MASLON EDELMAN BORMAN
& BRAND, LLP
3300 Wells Fargo Center
90 South Seventh Street

Minneapolis, MN 55402-4140
(612) 672-8200

### QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- 1. Where a district court dismisses a second complaint on two alternative grounds: failure to plead a civil rights claim as required by the federal rules of civil procedure and, independently, failure to plead a claim as required by the court's earlier order, and the court of appeals affirms, is any civil rights issue properly before this Court?
- 2. Where a request to amend pleadings is not made by motion in the district court and is not raised as an issue in the Petitioners' opening brief in the court of appeals, does the issue survive to permit this Court to review it by certiorari?

### CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

- 1. Lakes Gaming, Inc., is a publicly-traded company. No publicly-held companies own ten percent or more of its stock.
- 2. Kean Argovitz Resorts, Inc., has no parent corporations and no publicly-held companies own ten percent or more of its stock.
- 3. Kean Argovitz Resorts—Jamul, LLC, has no parent corporations and no publicly-held companies own ten percent or more of its stock.
- 4. Lakes Kean Argovitz Resorts-California, L.L.C., is owned by two parent corporations: Lakes Jamul, Inc., and Kean Argovitz Resorts-Jamul, L.L.C.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
QUESTIONS PRESENTED.	i
CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT	ii
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES	v
BRIEF FOR THE RESPONDENTS IN OPPOSI-	- 1
TION	
OPINIONS BELOW	
STATEMENT OF THE CASE	1
The Parties	2
The Claims	3
The Jamul Contract	3
The First Two Complaints and Their Dismissal	. 4
The Second Amended Complaint and Its	
Dismissal	. 6
The Fate of the State Law Tort Claims	8
Dismissal of the Federal Civil Rights Claims	9
The Ninth Circuit Appeal	10
REASONS THE WRIT SHOULD NOT BE	
I. THIS CASE DOES NOT PROVIDE A VEHI- CLE TO EXAMINE THE ISSUE PETI- TIONERS SEEK TO ARGUE	-
A. The Trial Court Decided the Case on Al ternative Grounds	-
B. The Decision Does Not Decide the Issue Stated in the Petition for Certiorari	Э

### TABLE OF CONTENTS - Continued

	Page
C. The Unpublished Opinion of the Lower Courts Does Not Contribute to Any Spli in the Circuits	t
II. THE ISSUES RELATING TO AMENDMENT OF PLEADINGS HAVE BEEN WAIVED	
CONCLUSION	. 15
SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX  Contents of Supplemental Appendix	. <i>i</i> sa
Appendix A (Memorandum Opinion and Order Regarding First Amended Complaint dated February 1 2001)	,

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
FEDERAL CASES
Addisu v. Fred Meyer, Inc., 198 F.3d 1130 (9th Cir. 2000)
DDI Seamless Cylinder International, Inc. v. General Fire Extinguisher Corp., 14 F.3d 1163 (7th Cir. 1994)
Griffin v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88 (1971)12, 13
Montana Pole & Treating Plant v. I.F. Laucks & Co., 993 F.2d 676 (9th Cir. 1993)
Welsh v. Derwinski, 14 F.3d 85 (1st Cir. 1994)15
Docketed Cases
Jamul Indian Village v. Hunter, Case No. 95 CV 0131R (S.D. Cal.)
Rosales v. Townsend, Case No. 97-CV-0769 (S.D. Cal.)
Rosales v. United States, Case No. 98-860-L (S.D. Cal.)
Federal Statutes and Regulations
25 U.S.C. §§ 1981, 1982, and 1985(3)15
42 U.S.C. § 1981
42 U.S.C. § 1982
42 U.S.C. § 1985(3)
Compact in May 2000. <i>Notice</i> , 65 Fed. Reg. 31,189

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES - Continued

	Page
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)	11
Indian Gaming Regulatory Act ("IGRA"), 25 U.S.C.	
§§ 2701-2721 (1994 & Supp. 1999)	5

### BRIEF FOR THE RESPONDENTS IN OPPOSITION

### **OPINIONS BELOW**

The opinion of the United States Court of Appeals Ninth Circuit is not reported and is designated as not for publication. The opinion of the United States District Court for the Southern District of California dated April 18, 2001, is also not reported. It is included in the Appendix at 3a. An earlier decision of the trial court dismissing the Petitioners' First Amended Complaint, dated February 1, 2001, is not reported and is included in the Supplemental Appendix at 1sa.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from contract negotiations between a gaming management contractor and a federally-recognized American Indian tribe. The tribe wishes to develop and operate a casino on tribal lands, and entered an agreement with the contractor to develop and manage the planned facility. The negotiations and resulting contract are subject to close regulation by the federal government. In fact, the contract is currently being reviewed by a federal agency, pursuant to congressionally-mandated regulations specifically intended to protect tribes. It will not take effect if the agency finds that the contractor acted improperly.

This case does not present the issue which Petitioners would have the Court reach. The district court dismissed Petitioners' Second Amended Complaint on two alternative grounds, only one of which presents Petitioners' issue concerning "conspiracy," and the Ninth Circuit affirmed

the dismissal on both bases. Neither court held that a private conspiracy is not an actionable claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3); they simply held that the Petitioners had not stated such a claim.

### The Parties

Petitioners are three tribe members who oppose gaming development. They attempted to assert civil rights claims against the Respondents, who contracted with the tribe to provide gaming management services. Petitioners cast this commercial dispute as civil rights claims, although they essentially allege only that the contractor acted improperly while negotiating the contract.

Petitioners live in or near the Jamul Indian Village and purport to be enrolled tribe members. ER at 75, ¶ 1.¹ They have been involved in a number of proceedings involving Jamul, having found themselves on the losing side of a number of intra-tribal disputes.² For instance, the Petitioners dispute the legitimacy of the current tribal leadership, asserting that Petitioner Rosales was elected Tribal Chairman in 1995, 1997, and 1999. There are currently proceedings pending before the Board of Indian

Tribal Appeals that are expected to resolve this issue. Petitioners also disagree with Jamul's decision to develop a casino. They disapprove of gambling, considering it "a greed driven, predatory vice," and believe that the planned development will disrupt their homes. *Id.* at 5.

Respondents are related entities fairly described as "engaging in casino management," in the words of the trial court. App. at 14a, n.2. Respondent Lakes Kean Argovitz Resorts—California, L.L.C. ("Lakes KAR") contracted with Jamul Indian Village ("Jamul") to develop and manage a casino gambling facility on tribal land (the "Jamul Contract"). See SER at 59-107. The signatories on behalf of Jamul were the tribal Chairman, a Vice-Chairman, three members of the Executive Council, and the Secretary/Treasurer. SER at 105.

### The Claims

Petitioners asserted novel claims in an attempt to involve the federal courts in an internal tribal dispute that does not implicate civil rights law, and that is currently being resolved in other forums, consistent with Congressional intent. Petitioners had three chances to serve and file a complaint that stated a civil rights claim, but they never did. They appealed the district court's dismissal of their third, insufficient effort.

### The Jamul Contract

Intending to become involved in gaming to generate revenue for the tribe, the Jamul Indian Village ("Jamul")

<sup>&#</sup>x27; For convenience, citations to the Excerpt of Record filed in the Ninth Circuit are included as "ER at \_\_" and to the Supplemental Excerpt of Record as "SER at \_\_."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At least two of the Rosales Claimants, represented by the same counsel, have filed the following federal cases involving Jamul's internal politics: *Jamul Indian Village v. Hunter*, Case No. 95 CV 0131R (S.D. Cal.); *Rosales v. Townsend*, Case No. 97-CV-0769 (S.D. Cal.); and *Rosales v. United States*, Case No. 98-860-L (S.D. Cal.). ER at 154.

entered into a Compact with the State of California in October 1999 (the "Compact"). SER at 108-68.<sup>3</sup> The Secretary of the Interior approved the Compact in May 2000. *Notice*, 65 Fed. Reg. 31,189 (May 16, 2000).

The core terms of the Jamul Contract are divided into "Development Provisions" and "Management Provisions," which involve, respectively, the development of a gaming facility and its subsequent operation. The Management Provisions will not take effect until approved by the National Indian Gaming Commission ("NIGC") Chairman. SER at 85. The Development Provisions allow Jamul to begin preparing for the development, while recognizing that the NIGC may not approve the Management Provisions. For example, pursuant to the Development Provisions, Lakes KAR is paying Jamul pre-construction advances of \$40,000 per month pending approval. SER at 71. These advances are to be repaid pursuant to a Promissory Note agreed to by the parties. *Id*.

### The First Two Complaints and Their Dismissal

In an attempt to stop gaming development, Petitioners filed this action against each of the Respondents, although only one of these entities, Lakes KAR, is a party to the Jamul Contract.

The underlying appeal challenged the dismissal of the Second Amended Complaint, which was filed in February 2001. That complaint represented Petitioners' third unsuccessful attempt to state a claim sufficient to survive a dismissal motion. The first Complaint was filed in September 2000. It named two corporate defendants (Respondents Kean Argovitz Resorts, Inc. and Lakes Gaming, Inc.), and two individual defendants. It asserted three state law tort claims and violations of three federal civil rights statutes, based on allegations that the defendants had purportedly violated the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act ("IGRA"), 25 U.S.C. §§ 2701-2721 (1994 & Supp. 1999) and the Compact during the Jamul Contract negotiations. SER at 5-16. It also sought declaratory and injunctive relief. *Id.* at 16-18.

The individual defendants sought dismissal on personal jurisdiction grounds, and the corporate defendants, joined by the individuals, filed a motion arguing that the action was preempted by IGRA, that Jamul was an indispensable party, and that the Complaint failed to assert facts sufficient to support the asserted civil rights claims. ER at 4. Before the district court could consider the dismissal motions, Petitioners rendered them moot by filing a First Amended Complaint. ER at 35-62. The First Amended Complaint dropped the two individual defendants and added two corporate defendants, resulting in the composition of parties involved in this appeal; it did not change the legal claims asserted in the First Amended Complaint.

Respondents moved to dismiss the First Amended Complaint on essentially the same grounds asserted against the initial Complaint, *i.e.*, that the action was preempted by IGRA, that the factual allegations did not support the alleged federal civil rights violations, and that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Compact was filed below as Exhibit A to the Notice of Lodgement and Request for Judicial Notice in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss the First Amended Complaint. See ER at 7.

the entire action should be dismissed because Jamul was an indispensable party.

While electing not to dismiss the case on indispensable party grounds, the district court dismissed the state law tort claims as a matter of law, because they were based on alleged violations of IGRA and the Compact, neither of which afforded Petitioners a private right of action. Supp. App. at 4sa-8sa. The court also found that the state law tort claims were preempted by IGRA, because that statute vested authority in the NIGC – not in Petitioners – to oversee Indian gaming. Id. For these reasons, the court dismissed the state law tort claims with prejudice and without leave to amend. Id. at 14sa.

Having dismissed the state law tort claims, the district court concluded that it was "ill-equipped to properly examine" the federal civil rights claims, because they were based on factual allegations that supported the claims that had been dismissed. Id. The court therefore dismissed the federal civil rights claims without prejudice and with leave to amend. Id. Consistent with federal law, the court instructed the Petitioners that if they chose to assert federal civil rights claims in the future they "must plead specific facts regarding each Defendants' discriminatory conduct as to each individual Plaintiff." Id. at 13sa. (emphasis in original).

### The Second Amended Complaint and Its Dismissal

Petitioners filed their Second Amended Complaint on February 28, 2001. Surprisingly, Petitioners included not only the federal civil rights claims the court had invited them to amend, but also the very same state law tort and without leave to amend. Id. The factual allegations are substantially the same, except that almost every express reference to IGRA and the Compact was deleted, presumably to avoid the pitfalls of preemption that had defeated the claims in the First Amended Complaint.

The federal civil rights claims, which were the subject of the appeal to the Ninth Circuit were: an equal protection claim asserted under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, a property rights claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1982, and a claim of conspiracy to violate civil rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3). The dismissal of the first two claims is not raised in the Petition for Certiorari.

In general, the Petitioners rested on broad, conclusory allegations. ¶¶ 22 & 34, App. at 28a, 34a. The Second Amended Complaint asserts that the conduct alleged in these paragraphs violates 25 U.S.C. §§ 1981, 1982, and 1985(3). See ¶¶ 60, 68 & 74, App. at 40a, 42a & 44a. Only the claim under section 1985(3) remains.

In addition, the twice-amended pleading asserts that "overt acts" in violation of these statutes "have been coupled with disparaging racial remarks concerning the Plaintiffs' respective degrees of Indian blood, including but not limited to referring to them as 'half blood Indians,' 'a half blood community,' and seeking to have them wrongfully evicted from their homes, and denied their possessory rights to their federal benefits." *Id.* The pleading does not allege, however, that any of the Respondents ever made any of the purportedly disparaging racial remarks. ¶¶ 20 & 33, *Id.* at 27-28a & 33-34a.

In addition, although the claim had been made earlier, the Second Amended Complaint does not contain allegations that the Respondents violated either IGRA or the Compact. In fact, to avoid the district court's earlier conclusion that they can bring no private cause of action under IGRA or the Compact, the Petitioners simply deleted almost all such references from the Second Amended Complaint. They attempted to distance their case from Indian gaming, stating, "At its 'core' the Second Amended Complaint pleads seven causes of action that have nothing to do with the Defendants' attempts to build a casino in Jamul." ER at 155; see generally id. at 145-69.

### The Fate of the State Law Tort Claims

Respondents moved to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint in its entirety. They argued, that the state law tort claims had already been dismissed with prejudice and without leave to amend. After receiving the motion and before the court could consider it, Petitioners withdrew the state law tort claims. App. at 11a. They then requested in their opposition papers, but never filed a motion for, leave to amend to re-assert the claims. Id. Petitioners appear to ask this Court to review the amendment issue, although it was not properly raised in the district court nor preserved in the court of appeals. Pet. for Certiorari at 21 & n.9.

In response, the district court noted that Petitioners' attempt to recast their case as one that was not integrally connected to Indian gaming was "not well taken." ER at 202. The court remarked that the deletion of references to IGRA and the Compact was "particularly surprising," since such violations had been alleged in both of their earlier complaints. Id. at 203. Recognizing that the state law tort claims were the same as those that had already been dismissed with prejudice and without leave to amend, and noting that Petitioners had already amended their complaint twice, the district court denied the motion to amend. Id. at 13a.

### Dismissal of the Federal Civil Rights Claims

The motion to dismiss the federal civil rights claims was based primarily on two arguments, the second of which itself comprised two arguments: First, that the claims failed because they were preempted by IGRA, despite the deletion of almost all references to the statute; and, second, that the allegations did not meet the standard of specificity required by federal civil rights law or, alternatively, that the allegations did not comply with the district court's prior order. ER at 113. The district court agreed in all respects. App. at 13a.

In its memorandum, the district court reviewed the elements of each civil rights claim, as well as the pleading requirements, and concluded that to avoid dismissal Petitioners had to allege facts sufficient to support a "plausible inference of racially discriminatory intent." App. at 7a. The court concluded that Petitioners had not satisfied this standard because their allegations did "not support an inference of intentional racial discrimination,"

<sup>\*</sup> In the Rosales Claimants' other litigation involving Jamul, similar tactics caused the district court to issue an order to show cause why sanctions should not be imposed. ER at 134-36. After filing one action in the Southern District of California and facing a motion to dismiss, they voluntarily withdrew the case and filed an identical action in the Central District. Id. After the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the later-filed action, they again voluntarily dismissed the case. Id. The court ultimately declined to order sanctions, but issued a stern warning against such "procedural tactics and maneuvering." ER at 142.

id. at 7a, and did not provide a causal link between Respondents' alleged acts and any intentional discrimination. Id. at 9a. As independent grounds for dismissal, the court found that Petitioners had failed to comply with the February 2001 Order that explicitly required them to "plead specific facts" if they sought to reassert their civil rights claims. App. at 10a-11a, quoting prior order, Supp. App. at 13sa. The court described the allegations as "at most, vague and ambiguous," and noted that they did not attribute racist remarks to any of the Respondents. App. at 10a.

### The Ninth Circuit Appeal

On appeal to the Ninth Circuit, Petitioners challenged only the dismissal of the federal civil rights claims. By decision dated May 21, 2002, the court entered a unanimous Memorandum Decision. App. at 1a. The court designated its opinion as "not appropriate for publication" and held that it may not be cited as authority.

### REASONS THE WRIT SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED

- I. THIS CASE DOES NOT PROVIDE A VEHICLE TO EXAMINE THE ISSUE PETITIONERS SEEK TO ARGUE.
  - A. The Trial Court Decided the Case on Alternative Grounds.

The trial court dismissed the second amended complaint for two – or really, three<sup>5</sup> – separate reasons, only one of which would arguably relate to the issue Petitioners would have this Court reach.

First, the alternative bases for dismissal of the federal claims relate to how Petitioners pleaded, or failed to plead, their claims. The federal constitutional claims were dismissed for two interrelated reasons: They failed to state a claim and were dismissed under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) and they failed to state a claim under the requirements imposed by the trial court's earlier order.

When the district court dismissed the First Amended Complaint, it expressly allowed Petitioners to try yet again to state a claim. It dismissed the federal claims "without prejudice and with leave to amend." Supp. App. at 14sa. The court provided express guidance on what was necessary for any amended complaint:

If Plaintiffs elect to file a Second Amended Complaint alleging civil rights violations under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The state-law claims were dismissed on the grounds they are preempted by federal law. Supp. App. at 9sa-12sa. This issue was not apparently raised in the Petition, although in the conclusion Petitioners appear to seek to have them reinstated. Pet. at 21 & n.9.

§§ 1981, 1982 and 1985, Plaintiffs must plead specific facts regarding each Defendants' discriminatory conduct as to each individual Plaintiff. Because Plaintiffs' proposed civil rights claims all independently arise from rights secured by the Constitution, Plaintiffs may not rely on or otherwise refer to IGRA or the Tribal-State Compact to establish the prima facie elements of their proposed civil rights claims.

Id. at 14sa (emphasis in original). The Second Amended Complaint was dismissed for its failure to state a claim under this requirement.

# B. The Decision Does Not Decide the Issue Stated in the Petition for Certiorari.

Even if the district and circuit courts had decided this case solely on the basis of the third issue in I.A, there would still be no basis for this Court to reach the issue raised by Petitioner. The "conflict in the circuits" urged by Petitioners relates to whether a cause of action exists for conspiracy to deprive a citizen of the right to vote. Pet. for Certiorari at 9.

This Court has decided the only legal issue raised by the stated issue. In *Griffin v. Brechenridge*, 403 U.S. 88 (1971), the Court articulated what is required to state a claim against a private conspiracy under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3). The trial court here applied a standard consistent with that articulated in *Griffin*, citing the applicable Ninth Circuit precedent, App. at 7a, Addisu v. Fred Meyer, Inc., 198 F.3d 1130 (9th Cir. 2000) (Aldisert, J.), which in turn cites and affirms the district court's application of *Griffin*.

The only thing actually decided here was that, despite being allowed repeated tries to plead a claim that complied with the requirements of Griffin, Petitioners never did so. As dictated by the facts - facts which the district court judge had repeated opportunity to come to know - the gravamen of Petitioners' complaints have always been a disagreement with casino gambling at the Jamul Indian Village. This economic dispute simply doesn't become an actionable civil rights complaint merely by adding talismanic conclusory language. Allegations that "statements were made," without alleging that it was the Respondents who made them, are similarly insufficient as a matter of fact. Although only notice of the claim is required under the rules, the trial court correctly determined that the complaint here did not state any basis to infer that any actions of anyone, let alone the Respondents, were motivated by any animus based on race or other class-status. App. at 7a.

Grounded only in the facts as pleaded by Petitioners in this case, and not the lofty legal issue Petitioners would have this Court address, the decisions here simply do not present any substantive issue, let alone one this Court needs to visit again, on the question stated in the Petition.

### C. The Unpublished Opinion of the Lower Courts Does Not Contribute to Any Split in the Circuits.

Both the district court decision and the Ninth Circuit Memorandum affirming it are unpublished opinions, and the Ninth Circuit opinion is, by its terms and rule of court, not appropriate for citation to that court or any other courts. If any one-paragraph decision can contribute to a conflict in the circuits justifying the rare action of certiorari review by this Court, certainly an unpublished one is unlikely ever to be important enough to warrant review. This decision is not.

# II. THE ISSUES RELATING TO AMENDMENT OF PLEADINGS HAVE BEEN WAIVED.

Petitioners include in their Petition a request for review of a decision denying them leave to amend for a third time. Pet. at 21 & n.9. Any issue relating to amendment of their pleadings has been waived.

No motion to amend was filed in the district court. In fact, they expressly withdrew their state-court claims. App. at 11a. Then, only in a responsive brief, Respondents merely asked the district court for leave to amend to reassert their state law tort claims, which had been dismissed. The federal civil rights claims were not part of this request. Indeed, the district court's express intent in inviting a second amended complaint was to permit Petitioners to re-plead their civil rights claims after the dismissal of the state law tort claims in the First Amended Complaint. Supp. App. at 13sa. There had been no developments since that amendment that would have justified a request for another amendment.

Moreover, Petitioners did not raise and brief the issue in the court of appeals; rather, in a footnote they merely claimed that they had asked the district court for leave to amend their federal civil rights claims. The district court decision to deny leave to amend refers only to state law claims. App. at 13a. Appellate courts regularly hold that failure to raise an issue and cite authority in the opening brief on appeal constitutes waiver of the issue. See, e.g., DDI Seamless Cylinder Int'l, Inc. v. General Fire Extinguisher

Corp., 14 F.3d 1163, 1168 (7th Cir. 1994) (argument stated in one sentence in the opening brief waived); Welsh v. Derwinski, 14 F.3d 85, 86 n.5 (1st Cir. 1994) (issues adverted to in a perfunctory manner and without developed argumentation are deemed waived on appeal). The Ninth Circuit did not err in applying this time-honored rule, especially where its own precedent dictates this result. See, e.g., Montana Pole & Treating Plant v. I.F. Lauchs & Co., 993 F.2d 676, 678 (9th Cir. 1993). This Court cannot provide the relief requested by Petitioners without addressing this issue. This case presents an anemic record upon which to consider any change in this aspect of appellate procedure, even if it were properly raised, and it was not raised properly here.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents submit the writ of certiorari should not issue.

ERNEST SLOME
JEFFRY A. MILLER
LEWIS, D'AMATO, BRISBOIS
& BISGARRD, LLP
550 West "C" Street,
Suite 800
San Diego, CA 92101
(619) 233-1006

Respectfully submitted,

David F. Herr

Counsel of Record

JUSTIN H. PERL

MICHAEL C. MCCARTHY

KAI H. RICHTER

MASLON EDELMAN BORMAN

& BRAND, LLP

3300 Wells Fargo Center

90 South Seventh Street

Minneapolis, MN 55402-4140

(612) 672-8200